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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

  

FORM 10-Q
  
 

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the quarterly period ended October 2, 2011.

OR
 
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934

For the transition period from              to             .

Commission File Number 001-14962
  

CIRCOR INTERNATIONAL, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

  
 

Delaware  04-3477276
(State or Other Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or Organization)  
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

c/o Circor, Inc.
25 Corporate Drive, Suite 130, Burlington, MA  01803-4238

(Address of principal executive offices)  (Zip Code)

(781) 270-1200
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

  
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  ☒    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes  ☒    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
 
Large accelerated filer  ☐   Accelerated filer  ☒

Non-accelerated filer  ☐  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)   Smaller reporting company  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes  ☐    No  ☒

As of October 20, 2011, there were 17,264,712 shares of the Registrant’s Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, outstanding.
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PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION.
 

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

CIRCOR INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data)
 
   October 2, 2011   December 31, 2010 
   (Unaudited)      
ASSETS     
CURRENT ASSETS:     

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 39,254    $ 45,752  
Short-term investments    98     101  
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $898 and $822, respectively    142,369     138,860  
Inventories    213,824     167,797  
Income taxes refundable    113     1,625  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    14,137     5,749  
Deferred income tax asset    17,146     20,111  
Insurance receivables    0     38  
Assets held for sale    542     542  

    
 

    
 

Total Current Assets    427,483     380,575  
    

 
    

 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET    103,252     95,768  
OTHER ASSETS:     

Goodwill    77,152     63,175  
Intangibles, net    59,997     62,322  
Deferred income tax asset    13,035     11,829  
Other assets    4,540     2,526  

    
 

    
 

TOTAL ASSETS   $ 685,459    $ 616,195  
    

 

    

 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
CURRENT LIABILITIES:     

Accounts payable   $ 83,439    $ 80,577  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    65,284     51,248  
Accrued compensation and benefits    24,581     22,305  
Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy related liabilities    1,200     79,831  
Income taxes payable    0     38  
Notes payable and current portion of long-term debt    16,679     851  

    
 

    
 

Total Current Liabilities    191,183     234,850  
    

 
    

 

LONG-TERM DEBT, NET OF CURRENT PORTION    86,818     684  
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES    2,292     0  
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    20,870     23,841  
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (See Note 10)     
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:     

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding    0     0  
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 29,000,000 shares authorized; 17,252,650 and 17,112,688 shares issued

and outstanding at October 2, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively    173     171  
Additional paid-in capital    257,309     254,154  
Retained earnings    120,773     96,389  
Accumulated other comprehensive income    6,041     6,106  

    
 

    
 

Total Shareholders’ Equity    384,296     356,820  
    

 
    

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   $ 685,459    $ 616,195  
    

 

    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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CIRCOR INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
   Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

   
October 2,

2011   
October 3,

2010   
October 2,

2011   
October 3,

2010  
Net revenues   $209,961   $177,577   $605,239   $491,851  
Cost of revenues    154,774    126,096    439,218    348,109  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

GROSS PROFIT    55,187    51,481    166,021    143,742  
Selling, general and administrative expenses    39,448    35,648    124,083    109,024  
Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy (recoveries) charges    (201)   2,343    676    30,603  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

OPERATING INCOME    15,940    13,490    41,262    4,115  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Other expense (income):      
Interest income    (69)   (69)   (166)   (162) 
Interest expense    956    803    3,058    2,036  
Other expense (income), net    354    (853)   1,830    (646) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSE (INCOME)    1,241    (119)   4,722    1,228  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES    14,699    13,609    36,540    2,887  
Provision (benefit) for income taxes    3,752    3,210    10,191    (2,005) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

NET INCOME   $ 10,947   $ 10,399   $ 26,349   $ 4,892  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Earnings per common share:      
Basic   $ 0.63   $ 0.61   $ 1.53   $ 0.29  
Diluted   $ 0.63   $ 0.60   $ 1.51   $ 0.28  

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:      
Basic    17,266    17,123    17,226    17,095  
Diluted    17,423    17,258    17,412    17,238  

Dividends paid per common share   $ 0.0375   $ 0.0375   $ 0.1125   $ 0.1125  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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CIRCOR INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
   Nine Months Ended  

   
October 2,

2011   
October 3,

2010  

OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Net income   $ 26,349   $ 4,892  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:    

Depreciation    11,265    9,509  
Amortization    3,293    3,065  
(Payment) Provision for Leslie bankruptcy settlement    (76,625)   24,974  
Compensation expense of share-based plans    3,007    2,445  
Tax effect of share-based compensation    (649)   (114) 
(Gain) loss on sale/disposal of property, plant and equipment    (68)   248  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from business acquisitions:    
Trade accounts receivable    (1,249)   (20,256) 
Inventories    (43,901)   (26,090) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets    (9,453)   5,031  
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities    17,353    13,406  

    
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities    (70,678)   17,110  
    

 
   

 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Additions to property, plant and equipment    (11,254)   (11,400) 
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment    84    75  
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired    (20,221)   (34,401) 
Proceeds from the sale of investments    0    21,427  

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (31,391)   (24,299) 
    

 
   

 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from borrowings    224,455    91,750  
Payments of borrowings    (126,269)   (60,202) 
Debt issuance costs    (2,001)   0  
Dividends paid    (1,987)   (1,982) 
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options    496    329  
Tax effect of share-based compensation    649    114  

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    95,343    30,009  
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    228    (644) 
    

 
   

 

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    (6,498)   22,176  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    45,752    46,350  

    
 

   
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD   $ 39,254   $ 68,526  
    

 

   

 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:    
Cash paid during the nine months for:    

Income taxes   $ 6,476   $ 4,713  
Interest   $ 3,576   $ 1,947  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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CIRCOR INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

(1) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited, consolidated financial statements have been prepared according to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, which include normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair
presentation of the consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of cash flows of CIRCOR International, Inc.
(“CIRCOR”, the “Company”, “us”, “we” or “our”) for the periods presented. We prepare our interim financial information using the same accounting principles
as we use for our annual audited financial statements. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in the annual audited financial statements have
been condensed or omitted in accordance with prescribed SEC rules. We believe that the disclosures made in our consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes are adequate to make the information presented not misleading.

The consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2010 is as reported in our audited financial statements as of that date. Our accounting policies are
described in the notes to our December 31, 2010 financial statements, which were included in our Annual Report filed on Form 10-K. We recommend that the
financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes included in our Annual Report
filed on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.

We operate and report financial information using a 52-week fiscal year ending December 31. The data periods contained within our Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q reflect the results of operations for the 13-week, 26-week and 39-week periods which generally end on the Sunday nearest the calendar quarter-end
date. Operating results for the three and nine months ended October 2, 2011 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending
December 31, 2011.

Reclassifications

Certain items in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to conform to currently reported presentations.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

New Accounting Standards

The FASB issued ASU 2011-04 in May 2011 to amend fair value measurements and related disclosures; the guidance becomes effective on a prospective
basis at the beginning of the 2012 fiscal year. This new guidance results in a consistent definition of fair value and common requirements for measurement of and
disclosure about fair value between International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and U.S. GAAP. The new guidance also changes some fair value
measurement principles and enhances disclosure requirements related to activities in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The adoption of this updated authoritative
guidance is not expected to have any impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2011-05 to amend the presentation of
comprehensive income in financial statements. This guidance allows companies the option to present other comprehensive income in either a single continuous
statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. Under both alternatives, companies will be required to present each component of net income and
comprehensive income. The adoption of this updated authoritative guidance will impact the presentation of our consolidated financial statements, but it will not
change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income. The guidance must be applied retrospectively and is effective for the first quarter of 2012.
We are in the process of evaluating the presentation options required by this ASU.

In the third quarter of 2011, the FASB issued an ASU aimed at simplifying entities’ annual goodwill impairment test. The revised standard is intended to
reduce the cost and complexity of the annual goodwill impairment test by providing entities an option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether
further impairment testing is necessary. The revised standard is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2011. However, early adoption is allowed. We have elected to adopt this standard early and will apply the provisions of this ASU to our 2011
analysis of goodwill. The adoption of this updated authoritative guidance is not expected to have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

(3) Share-Based Compensation

As of October 2, 2011, we have one share-based compensation plan. The Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “1999 Stock
Plan”), which was adopted by our Board of Directors and approved by our shareholders, permits the granting of the following types of awards to our officers,
other employees and non-employee directors: incentive stock options; non-qualified stock options; deferred stock awards; restricted stock awards; unrestricted
stock awards; performance share awards; cash-based
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awards; stock appreciation rights and dividend equivalent rights. The 1999 Stock Plan provides for the issuance of up to 3,000,000 shares of common stock
(subject to adjustment for stock splits and similar events). New options granted under the 1999 Stock Plan could have varying vesting provisions and exercise
periods. Options granted vest in periods ranging from one to six years and expire ten years after the grant date. Restricted stock units granted generally vest from
three to six years. Vested restricted stock units will be settled in shares of our common stock. As of October 2, 2011, there were 156,014 stock options and
395,794 restricted stock units outstanding. In addition, there were 528,816 shares available for grant under the 1999 Stock Plan as of October 2, 2011. As of
October 2, 2011, there were 13,566 outstanding restricted stock units that contain rights to nonforfeitable dividend equivalents and are considered participating
securities that are included in our computation of basic and fully diluted earnings per share. There is no difference in the earnings per share amounts between the
two class method and the treasury stock method, which is why we continue to use the treasury stock method.

For all of our stock option grants, the fair value of each grant was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Black-
Scholes utilizes assumptions related to volatility, the risk-free interest rate, the dividend yield and employee exercise behavior. Expected volatilities utilized in the
model are based on the historic volatility of the Company’s stock price. The risk free interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasury Yield curve in effect at the
time of the grant. During the first nine months of 2011, we granted 64,755 stock options.

The fair value of stock options granted during the nine months ended October 2, 2011 of $16.96 was estimated using the following weighted-average
assumptions:
 

Risk-free interest rate    1.2% 
Expected life (years)    5.8  
Expected stock volatility    46.4% 
Expected dividend yield    0.4% 

We account for Restricted Stock Unit (“RSU”) Awards by expensing the weighted average fair value to selling, general and administrative expenses ratably
over vesting periods ranging from three to six years. During the nine months ended October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010, we granted 66,027 and 130,226 RSU
Awards with approximate fair values of $38.68 and $30.91 per RSU Award, respectively.

The CIRCOR Management Stock Purchase Plan, which is a component of the 1999 Stock Plan, provides that eligible employees may elect to receive
restricted stock units in lieu of all or a portion of their pre-tax annual incentive bonus and, in some cases, make after-tax contributions in exchange for restricted
stock units (“RSU MSPs”). In addition, non-employee directors may elect to receive restricted stock units in lieu of all or a portion of their annual directors’ fees.
Each RSU MSP represents a right to receive one share of our common stock after a three-year vesting period. RSU MSPs are granted at a discount of 33% from
the fair market value of the shares of our common stock on the date of grant. This discount is amortized as compensation expense, to selling, general and
administrative expenses, over a four year period. A total of 43,734 and 13,505 RSUs with per unit discount amounts representing fair values of $12.87 and $10.20
were granted under the CIRCOR Management Stock Purchase Plan during the nine months ended October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010, respectively.

Compensation expense related to our share-based plans for the nine month periods ended October 2, 2011, and October 3, 2010 was $3.0 million and $2.6
million, respectively, and was recorded as selling, general and administrative expense. As of October 2, 2011, there was $5.5 million of total unrecognized
compensation costs related to our outstanding share-based compensation arrangements. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
approximately 3.0 years.

A summary of the status of all stock options granted to employees and non-employee directors as of October 2, 2011 and changes during the nine month
period then ended is presented in the table below (Options in thousands):
 

   Options  
Weighted Average

Exercise  Price  
Options outstanding at beginning of period    135   $ 23.29  
Granted    65   $ 38.27  
Exercised    (27)  $ 18.68  
Forfeited    (17)  $ 36.07  

    
 

 

Options outstanding at end of period    156   $ 28.89  
    

 

 

Options exercisable at end of period    74   $ 21.44  

The weighted average contractual term for stock options outstanding and options exercisable as of October 2, 2011 was 6.0 years and 2.5 years,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the nine months ended October 2, 2011 was $0.6 million and the aggregate intrinsic
value of stock options outstanding and options exercisable as of October 2, 2011 was $0.6 million and $0.6 million, respectively.
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A summary of the status of all RSU Awards granted to employees and non-employee directors as of October 2, 2011 and changes during the nine month
period then ended is presented in the table below (RSUs in thousands):
 

   RSUs   

Weighted Average
Grant 

Date Fair Value  
RSU Awards outstanding at beginning of period    340   $ 30.79  
Granted    66   $ 38.68  
Settled    (130)  $ 29.81  
Cancelled    (34)  $ 30.93  

    
 

 

RSU Awards outstanding at end of period    242   $ 33.46  
    

 

 

RSU Awards vested and deferred at end of period    12   $ 34.55  

The aggregate intrinsic value of RSU Awards settled during the nine months ended October 2, 2011 was $5.5 million and the aggregate intrinsic value of
RSU Awards outstanding and RSU Awards vested and deferred as of October 2, 2011 was $7.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

A summary of the status of all RSU MSPs granted to employees and non-employee directors as of October 2, 2011 and changes during the nine month
period then ended is presented in the table below (RSUs in thousands):
 

   RSUs  
Weighted Average

Exercise  Price  
RSU MSPs outstanding at beginning of period    173   $ 18.63  
Granted    44   $ 26.13  
Settled    (45)  $ 27.76  
Cancelled    (18)  $ 17.22  

    
 

 

RSU MSPs outstanding at end of period    154   $ 18.26  
    

 

 

RSU MSPs vested and deferred at end of period    1   $ 32.60  

The aggregate intrinsic value of RSU MSPs settled during the nine months ended October 2, 2011 was $0.5 million and the aggregate intrinsic value of
RSU MSPs outstanding and RSU MSPs vested and deferred as of October 2, 2011 was $1.7 million and less than $0.1 million, respectively.

(4) Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (In thousands):
 

   October 2, 2011   December 31, 2010 
Raw materials   $ 70,418    $ 49,451  
Work in process    98,276     80,402  
Finished goods    45,130     37,944  

    
 

    
 

  $ 213,824    $ 167,797  
    

 

    

 

(5) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table presents goodwill, by segment, as of October 2, 2011 (In thousands):
 

   Energy   Aerospace   
Flow

Technologies  
Consolidated

Total  
Goodwill as of December 31, 2010   $39,423   $ 19,430    $ 4,322   $ 63,175  
Acquisitions    12,568    0     0    12,568  
Adjustments to preliminary purchase price allocation    (126)   2,713     (19)   2,568  
Currency translation adjustments    (966)   22     (215)   (1,159) 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Goodwill as of October 2, 2011   $50,899   $ 22,165    $ 4,088   $ 77,152  
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The table below presents the gross intangible assets and the related accumulated amortization as of October 2, 2011 (In thousands):
 

   

Gross
Carrying
Amount    

Accumulated
Amortization 

Patents   $ 6,084    $ (5,551) 
Trademarks and trade names    29,908     0  
Land use rights    455     (66) 
Customer relationships    38,462     (13,520) 
Backlog    1,623     (1,138) 
Other    7,143     (3,403) 

    
 

    
 

Total   $83,675    $ (23,678) 
    

 

    

 

Net carrying value of intangible assets   $59,997    
    

 

  

The table below presents estimated remaining amortization expense for intangible assets recorded as of October 2, 2011 (In thousands):
 

   2011    2012    2013    2014    2015    
After
2015  

Estimated amortization expense   $1,056    $3,749    $3,703    $3,573    $3,543    $14,465  
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(6) Segment Information

The following table presents certain reportable segment information (In thousands):
 

   Energy    Aerospace    
Flow

Technologies  
Corporate/

Eliminations  
Consolidated

Total  
Three Months Ended October 2, 2011         
Net revenues   $103,300    $ 32,681    $ 73,980   $ 0   $ 209,961  
Intersegment revenues    297     0     60    (357)   0  
Operating income (loss)    7,441     1,846     10,008    (3,355)   15,940  

Interest income          (69) 
Interest expense          956  
Other expense, net          354  

          
 

Income before income taxes         $ 14,699  
          

 

Identifiable assets    363,976     193,992     193,791    (66,300)   685,459  
Capital expenditures    1,610     1,295     408    479    3,792  
Depreciation and amortization    1,858     1,280     1,446    283    4,867  

Three Months Ended October 3, 2010         
Net revenues   $ 80,613    $ 28,316    $ 68,648   $ 0   $ 177,577  
Intersegment revenues    174     20     (372)   178    0  
Operating income (loss)    8,968     2,726     6,966    (5,170)   13,490  

Interest income          (69) 
Interest expense          803  
Other income, net          (853) 

          
 

Income before income taxes         $ 13,609  
          

 

Identifiable assets    256,809     191,292     186,863    19,916    654,880  
Capital expenditures    1,425     816     338    634    3,213  
Depreciation and amortization    1,639     1,201     1,368    80    4,288  

Nine Months Ended October 2, 2011         
Net revenues   $284,464    $100,820    $ 219,955   $ 0   $ 605,239  
Intersegment revenues    941     10     227    (1,178)   0  
Operating income (loss)    18,208     9,593     28,416    (14,955)   41,262  

Interest income          (166) 
Interest expense          3,058  
Other expense, net          1,830  

          
 

Income before income taxes         $ 36,540  
          

 

Identifiable assets    363,976     193,992     193,791    (66,300)   685,459  
Capital expenditures    5,022     3,037     1,842    1,353    11,254  
Depreciation and amortization    5,751     3,712     4,483    612    14,558  

Nine Months Ended October 3, 2010         
Net revenues   $215,641    $ 83,401    $ 192,809   $ 0   $ 491,851  
Intersegment revenues    461     20     114    (595)   0  
Operating income (loss)    17,417     10,400     (7,580)   (16,122)   4,115  

Interest income          (162) 
Interest expense          2,036  
Other income, net          (646) 

          
 

Income before income taxes         $ 2,887  
          

 

Identifiable assets    256,809     191,292     186,863    19,916    654,880  
Capital expenditures    4,299     3,771     1,899    1,431    11,400  
Depreciation and amortization    4,960     3,253     4,126    235    12,574  
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Each reporting segment is individually managed and has separate financial results that are reviewed by our chief operating decision-maker. Each segment
contains related products and services particular to that segment. For further discussion of the products included in each segment refer to Note 1 of the
consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.

In calculating operating income for each reporting segment, substantial administrative expenses incurred at the corporate level for the benefit of other
reporting segments were allocated to the segments based upon specific identification of costs, employment related information or net revenues.

Corporate / Eliminations are reported on a net “after allocations” basis. Inter-segment intercompany transactions affecting net operating profit have been
eliminated within the respective operating segments.

The operating loss reported in the Corporate / Eliminations column in the preceding table consists primarily of the following corporate expenses:
compensation and fringe benefit costs for executive management and other corporate staff; corporate development costs (relating to mergers and acquisitions);
human resource development and benefit plan administration expenses; legal, accounting and other professional and consulting fees; facilities, equipment and
maintenance costs; and travel and various other administrative costs. The above costs are incurred in the course of furthering the business prospects of the
Company and relate to activities such as: implementing strategic business growth opportunities; corporate governance; risk management; treasury; investor
relations and shareholder services; regulatory compliance; and stock transfer agent costs.

The total of assets for each operating segment has been reported as the Identifiable Assets for that segment, including inter-segment intercompany
receivables, payables and investments in other CIRCOR companies. Identifiable assets reported in Corporate / Eliminations include both corporate assets, such as
cash, deferred taxes, prepaid and other assets, fixed assets, as well as the elimination of all inter-segment intercompany assets. The elimination of intercompany
assets results in negative amounts reported in Corporate / Eliminations for Identifiable Assets as of October 2, 2011. Corporate Identifiable Assets, after
elimination of intercompany assets, were $35.4 million and $67.9 million as of October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010, respectively.

(7) Earnings Per Common Share (In thousands, except per share amounts):
 
   Three Months Ended  
   October 2, 2011    October 3, 2010  

   
Net

Income    Shares    

Per
Share

Amount    
Net

Income    Shares    

Per
Share

Amount  
Basic Earnings per Common Share (“EPS”)   $ 10,947     17,266    $ 0.63    $ 10,399     17,123    $ 0.61  
Dilutive securities, common stock options    0     157     0     0     135     (0.01) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Diluted EPS   $ 10,947     17,423    $ 0.63    $ 10,399     17,258    $ 0.60  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
   Nine Months Ended  
   October 2, 2011   October 3, 2010  

   
Net

Income    Shares    

Per
Share

Amount   
Net

Income    Shares    

Per
Share

Amount  
Basic EPS   $ 26,349     17,226    $ 1.53   $ 4,892     17,095    $ 0.29  
Dilutive securities, common stock options    0     186     (0.02)   0     143     (0.01) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

Diluted EPS   $ 26,349     17,412    $ 1.51   $ 4,892     17,238    $ 0.28  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

There were 179,021 and 282,504 anti-dilutive stock options and RSUs for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010, respectively.

(8) Financial Instruments

Fair Value

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these
financial instruments. Short-term investments (principally guaranteed investment certificates) are carried at cost which approximates fair value at the balance
sheet date. The fair value of our variable rate debt approximates its carrying amount.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations, including foreign currency exchange rate risk and interest rate risk.
The Company currently uses derivative instruments to manage foreign currency risk on certain business transactions denominated in foreign currencies. To the
extent the underlying transactions hedged are completed, these forward contracts do not subject us to significant risk from exchange rate movements because they
generally offset gains and losses on the related foreign currency denominated transactions. These forward contracts do not qualify as hedging instruments for
accounting purposes and, therefore, do not qualify for fair value or cash flow hedge treatment. Any unrealized gains and losses on our contracts are recognized as
a component of other expense in our consolidated statements of operations.

As of October 2, 2011, we had thirteen forward contracts with amounts as follows (in thousands):
 

Currency   Number   Contract Amount
U.S. Dollar/GBP    5     3,376    U.S. Dollars
Euro/GBP    6     1,020    Euros
Brazilian Real/Euro    2     6,500    Brazilian Reals

This compares to eighteen forward contracts as of December 31, 2010. The fair value asset of the derivative forward contracts as of October 2, 2011 was
approximately $0.1 million and is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on our balance sheet. This compares to a fair value liability of
approximately $1.7 million that was included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2010.

We have determined that the majority of the inputs used to value our foreign currency forward contracts fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy,
found under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820.1. The credit valuation adjustments, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the
likelihood of default by us and our counterparties, are Level 3 inputs. However, we have assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation
adjustments on the overall valuation of our foreign currency forward contracts and determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the
overall valuation. As a result, we have determined that our derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(9) Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Comprehensive (loss) income for the three and nine months ended October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010 consists of the following (In thousands):
 

   Three Months Ended    Nine Months Ended  

   
October 2,

2011   
October 3,

2010    
October 2,

2011   
October 3,

2010  
Net income   $ 10,947   $ 10,399    $ 26,349   $ 4,892  
Cumulative translation adjustments    (13,037)   17,510     (65)   (4,121) 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total comprehensive (loss) income   $ (2,090)  $ 27,909    $ 26,284   $ 771  
    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

(10) Contingencies and Commitments

Asbestos and Bankruptcy Litigation

Background

On July 12, 2010 (the “Filing Date”), our subsidiary Leslie Controls, Inc. (“Leslie”) filed a voluntary petition (the “Bankruptcy Filing”) under Chapter 11
of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware and, simultaneously, filed a pre-negotiated plan of reorganization (as
amended, the “Reorganization Plan” or “Plan”) in an effort to permanently resolve Leslie’s exposure to asbestos-related product liability actions. On February 7,
2011, the U.S. Federal District Court for the District of Delaware (the “District Court”) affirmed the Bankruptcy Court’s earlier order confirming Leslie’s
Reorganization Plan, thus clearing the way for Leslie to emerge from bankruptcy. On April 28, 2011, pursuant to the terms of the Reorganization Plan, Leslie and
CIRCOR contributed $76.6 million in cash and a $1 million promissory note (the “Note”) to fund the Leslie Controls Asbestos Trust (the “Trust”), and Leslie
emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. Under the terms of the Plan, all current and future asbestos related claims against Leslie, as well as all current
and future derivative claims against CIRCOR, will now be permanently channeled to the Trust, and the only remaining financial obligation of Leslie and
CIRCOR is payment of the Note. On September 30, 2011, the District Court entered an order for the final decree closing the Chapter 11 case. For a more detailed
historical perspective on Leslie’s asbestos related litigation and associated pre-bankruptcy liability accounting, see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2010.
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Accounting—Indemnity and Defense Cost Liabilities and Assets

During 2010, as a result of Leslie’s Bankruptcy Filing and Reorganization Plan, we accrued liabilities based on the terms of the Reorganization Plan. As of
December 31, 2010, we therefore recorded net Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy liabilities for resolution of pending and future claims of $79.8 million (all
classified as a current liability). As of October 2, 2011, the net liability decreased significantly with the funding of the Trust on April 28, 2011. A summary of
Leslie’s accrued liabilities, including contributions to the Trust under the Reorganization Plan for existing and future asbestos claims as well as incurred but
unpaid asbestos defense cost liabilities and the related insurance recoveries, is provided below.
 

In Thousands   October 2, 2011   December 31, 2010 
Existing claim indemnity liability   $ 0    $ 64  
Amounts payable to 524(g) trust    1,000     77,625  
Incurred defense cost liability    200     2,142  
Insurance recoveries receivable    0     (38) 

    
 

    
 

Net Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy liability   $ 1,200    $ 79,793  
    

 
    

 

2011 and 2010 Experience and Financial Statement Impact

The following table provides information regarding the pre-tax Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy related costs (recoveries) for the three and nine months
ended October 2, 2011. The $0.2 million recovery for the three month period ended October 2, 2011 is the result of lower actual defense related expenses partially
offset by additional bankruptcy related costs incurred for the three month period ended October 2, 2011 compared to amounts previously estimated.
 

   Three Months Ended    Nine Months Ended  

In Thousands   
October 2,

2011   
October 3,

2010    
October 2,

2011   
October 3,

2010  
Indemnity costs accrued (cases filed)   $ 0   $ 0    $ 0   $ 2,496  
Adverse verdict appealed    0    0     0    (2,390) 
Defense (recoveries) cost incurred    (306)   16     (306)   7,182  
Insurance recoveries adjustment    0    0     0    (3,652) 
Insurance recoveries accrued    0    0     0    (2,626) 
Bankruptcy related costs    105    2,327     982    29,593  

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Net pre-tax Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy (recoveries) charges   $ (201)  $ 2,343    $ 676   $ 30,603  
    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

Other Matters

Smaller numbers of asbestos-related claims have also been filed against two of our other subsidiaries—Spence Engineering Company, Inc. (“Spence”), the
stock of which we acquired in 1984; and Hoke Handelsgesellschaft GmbH (“Hoke”), the stock of which we acquired in 1998. Due to the nature of the products
supplied by these entities, the markets they serve and our historical experience in resolving these claims, we do not believe that asbestos-related claims will have
a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or liquidity of Spence or Hoke, or the financial condition, consolidated results of
operations or liquidity of the Company.

During the third quarter of 2011, we commenced arbitration proceedings against T.M.W. Corporation (“TMW”), the seller from which we acquired the
assets of Castle Precision Industries in August 2010, seeking to recover damages from TMW for breaches of certain representations and warranties made by
TMW in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

Standby Letters of Credit

We execute standby letters of credit, which include bid bonds and performance bonds, in the normal course of business to ensure our performance or
payments to third parties. The aggregate notional amount of these instruments was $50.9 million at October 2, 2011. Our historical experience with these types of
instruments has been good and no claims have been paid in the current or past five fiscal years. We believe that the likelihood of demand for payments relating to
the outstanding instruments is remote. These instruments have expiration dates ranging from less than one month to six years as of October 2, 2011.
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The following table contains information related to standby letters of credit instruments outstanding as of October 2, 2011 (In thousands):
 

Term Remaining   
Maximum Potential
Future  Payments  

0–12 months   $ 28,953  
Greater than 12 months    21,985  

    
 

Total   $ 50,938  
    

 

(11) Defined Benefit Pension Plans

We maintain two pension benefit plans, a qualified noncontributory defined benefit plan and a nonqualified, noncontributory defined benefit supplemental
plan that provides benefits to certain highly compensated officers and employees. To date, the supplemental plan remains an unfunded plan. These plans include
significant pension benefit obligations which are calculated based on actuarial valuations. Key assumptions are made in determining these obligations and related
expenses, including expected rates of return on plan assets and discount rates. Benefits are based primarily on years of service and employee compensation.

As of July 1, 2006, in connection with a revision to our retirement plan, we froze the pension benefits of our qualified noncontributory plan participants.
Under the revised plan, such participants generally do not accrue any additional benefits under the defined benefit plan after July 1, 2006.

During the three and nine months ended October 2, 2011, we made cash contributions of $0.4 million and $2.5 million, respectively, to our qualified
defined benefit pension plan. For the remainder of 2011, we expect to make voluntary cash contributions of approximately $0.4 million to our qualified defined
benefit pension plan, although global capital market and interest rate fluctuations may impact future funding requirements.

Additionally, substantially all of our U.S. employees are eligible to participate in a 401(k) savings plan. Under this plan, we make a core contribution and
match a specified percentage of employee contributions, subject to certain limitations.

The components of net pension benefit expense are as follows (In thousands):
 

   Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
   October 2, 2011  October 3, 2010  October 2, 2011  October 3, 2010 
Service cost-benefits earned   $ 108   $ 100   $ 323   $ 300  
Interest cost on benefits obligation    540    534    1,621    1,603  
Estimated return on assets    (610)   (506)   (1,829)   (1,519) 
Prior service cost amortization    0    0    0    0  
Loss amortization    85    73    256    221  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net periodic cost of defined benefit pension plans  $ 123   $ 201   $ 371   $ 605  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

(12) Income Taxes

As required by the Income Tax Topic of the ASC, we had $1.3 million and $1.6 million of unrecognized tax benefits at October 2, 2011 and December 31,
2010, respectively, all of which would affect our effective tax rate if recognized in any future period.

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. As of October 2, 2011, we have approximately $0.3 million of
accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in various state, local and foreign jurisdictions. The Internal Revenue Service has
concluded its examination of the Company for 2007. The Company is no longer subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service for years prior to 2008
and is no longer subject to examination by the tax authorities in foreign and state jurisdictions prior to 2005. The Company is currently under examination for
income tax filings in various state and foreign jurisdictions.

(13) Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify certain of our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while
the officer or director is, or was, serving at our request in such capacity. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer’s or director’s lifetime. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. However, we have directors
and officers’ liability insurance policies that limit our exposure for events covered under the policies and should enable us to substantially recover any future
amounts paid. As a result of the coverage under these insurance policies, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements based on Level
3 criteria as described under ASC Topic 820.1 is minimal and, therefore, have no liabilities recorded from those agreements as of October 2, 2011.
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We record provisions for the estimated cost of product warranties, primarily from historical information, at the time product revenue is recognized. While
we engage in extensive product quality programs and processes, our warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates, utilization levels, material usage,
service delivery costs incurred in correcting a product failure, and supplier warranties on parts delivered to us. Should actual product failure rates, utilization
levels, material usage, service delivery costs or supplier warranties on parts differ from our estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be
required.

The following table sets forth information related to our product warranty reserves for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 (In thousands):
 

Balance beginning December 31, 2010   $ 2,508  
Provisions    2,210  
Claims settled    (1,590) 
Currency translation adjustments    20  

    
 

Balance ending October 2, 2011   $ 3,148  
    

 

(14) Business Acquisitions

On February 4, 2011, we acquired the stock of Valvulas S.F. Industria e Comercio Ltda. (“SF Valves”), a Sao Paulo, Brazil based manufacturer of valves
for the energy market. SF Valves is reported in our Energy segment. In connection with this acquisition, as of October 2, 2011, we have recorded estimated fair
values of $5.7 million of current assets, $7.6 million of fixed assets, $6.4 million of current liabilities, $3.8 million of long-term liabilities, and $4.2 million of
intangible assets. The preliminary excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of $12.4 million is recorded as goodwill and may
be deductible for Brazilian tax purposes. We are currently assessing income tax (including uncertain income tax positions), working capital, and indemnification
items and anticipate finalizing our purchase price allocation during the fourth quarter of 2011.
 
ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains certain statements that are “forward-looking statements” as that term is defined under the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Act”) and releases issued by the SEC. The words “may,” “hope,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “intend,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” and other expressions which are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and which do not
relate to historical matters, identify forward-looking statements. We believe that it is important to communicate our future expectations to our stockholders, and
we, therefore, make forward-looking statements in reliance upon the safe harbor provisions of the Act. However, there may be events in the future that we are not
able to accurately predict or control and our actual results may differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ
materially from anticipated future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or
contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, the cyclicality and highly competitive nature of some of our end markets which can affect the overall
demand for and pricing of our products, changes in the price of and demand for oil and gas in both domestic and international markets, variability of raw
material and component pricing, changes in our suppliers’ performance, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, our ability to continue operating our
manufacturing facilities at efficient levels including our ability to continue to reduce costs, our ability to generate increased cash by reducing our inventories, our
prevention of the accumulation of excess inventory, our ability to successfully implement our acquisition strategy, fluctuations in interest rates, our ability to
continue to successfully defend product liability actions including asbestos-related claims, as well as the uncertainty associated with the current worldwide
economic conditions and the continuing impact on economic and financial conditions in the United States and around the world as a result of terrorist attacks,
current Middle Eastern conflicts and related matters. We advise you to read further about certain of these and other risk factors set forth in Part I, Item 1A,
“Risk Factors” of our Annual Report filed on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, together with subsequent reports we have filed with the SEC
on Forms 10-Q and 8-K, which may supplement, modify, supersede, or update those risk factors. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Overview

CIRCOR International, Inc. designs, manufactures and markets valves and other highly engineered products and sub-systems used in the energy, aerospace
and industrial markets. Within our major product groups, we develop, sell and service a portfolio of fluid-control products, subsystems and technologies that
enable us to fulfill our customers’ unique fluid-control application needs.
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We have organized our business segment reporting structure into three segments: Energy, Aerospace, and Flow Technologies. Our Energy segment
primarily serves large international energy projects, short-cycle North American energy markets, and the pipeline transmission equipment and services end
markets. Our Aerospace segment primarily serves the commercial and military aerospace markets. Our Flow Technologies segment serves our broadest variety of
end-markets, including power generation, industrial and commercial HVAC/steam, industrial and process markets and chemical and refining. The Flow
Technologies segment also provides products specifically designed for U.S. and international navy applications.

We have been transforming our worldwide operations and culture through the development of lean manufacturing techniques (“Lean”) and the
implementation of the CIRCOR Business System. The CIRCOR Business System is defined by our commitment to attracting, developing and refining the best
talent and pursuing continuous improvement in all aspects of our business and operations. The CIRCOR Business System promotes improved shareholder value
through a commitment to core competencies across all of our business units, including talent acquisition and retention, operational excellence, business
integration and repositioning, global business development, and new product development.

Our primary objective is to enhance shareholder value through profitable growth of our diversified, multi-national company utilizing the CIRCOR Business
System. We strive to be a global growth company with great operational execution. We are working to accomplish these objectives by focusing on key end-
markets that have above average growth with highly engineered product and project opportunities, including the up-stream and mid-stream oil and gas, power
generation, process and aerospace markets. In these markets we are using the CIRCOR Business System to excel at:
 

 •  Talent Acquisition, Development and Retention;
 

 •  Lean Enterprise, Six Sigma and Continuous Improvement;
 

 •  Acquisition Integration and Repositioning;
 

 •  Global Manufacturing and Supply Chain Management;
 

 •  Global Business Development; and
 

 •  New Product Development.

Through organic and acquisition-based growth, our three to five year objectives are to double the revenue of CIRCOR, gain significant market positions in
our key end-markets and build a global capability in high-growth emerging markets.

Basis of Presentation

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. We monitor our business in three segments: Energy,
Aerospace, and Flow Technologies.

We operate and report financial information using a 52-week fiscal year ending December 31. The data periods contained within our Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q reflect the results of operations for the 13-week, 26-week and 39-week periods, which generally end on the Sunday nearest the calendar quarter-end
date.

Reclassifications

Certain items in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to conform to currently reported presentations.

Critical Accounting Policies

The following discussion of accounting policies is intended to supplement the section “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” presented in Note 2
to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010. These policies were selected
because they are broadly applicable within our operating units. The expenses and accrued liabilities or allowances related to certain of these policies are initially
based on our best estimates at the time of original entry in our accounting records. Adjustments are recorded when our actual experience, or new information
concerning our expected experience, differs from underlying initial estimates. These adjustments could be material if our actual or expected experience were to
change significantly in a short period of time. We make frequent comparisons of actual experience and expected experience in order to mitigate the likelihood of
material adjustments.

There have been no significant changes from the methodology applied by management for critical accounting estimates previously disclosed in our most
recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when products are delivered, title and risk of loss have passed to the customer, no significant post-delivery obligations remain and
collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Shipping and handling costs invoiced to customers are recorded as components of revenues and the
associated costs are recorded as cost of sales.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Short-term Investments

Cash and cash equivalents consist of amounts on deposit in checking and savings accounts with banks and other financial institutions. Short-term
investments primarily consist of guaranteed investment certificates which generally have short-term maturities and are carried at cost which generally
approximates fair value.

Allowance for Inventory

We typically analyze our inventory aging and projected future usage on a quarterly basis to assess the adequacy of our inventory allowances. We provide
inventory allowances for excess, slow-moving, and obsolete inventories primarily determined by estimates of future demand. The allowance is measured on an
item-by-item basis determined based on the difference between the cost of the inventory and estimated market value. The provision for inventory allowance is a
component of our cost of revenues. Assumptions about future demand are among the primary factors utilized to estimate market value. Future demand is
generally based on actual usage of inventory on a line item basis over the past two years and is adjusted for forecasted future demand, current backlog levels
and/or existing market conditions. At the point of the loss recognition, a new, lower-cost basis for that inventory is established, and subsequent changes in facts
and circumstances do not result in the restoration or increase in that newly established cost basis.

Our net inventory balance was $213.8 million as of October 2, 2011, compared to $167.8 million as of December 31, 2010. Our inventory allowance as of
October 2, 2011 was $16.7 million, compared with $16.7 million as of December 31, 2010. Our provision for inventory obsolescence was $2.8 million and $4.1
million for the first nine months of 2011 and 2010, respectively. For the nine months ended October 2, 2011, we have experienced increases in organic revenue,
orders, and backlog. We believe our inventory allowances remain adequate with the net realizable value of our inventory being higher than our current inventory
cost.

If there were to be a sudden and significant decrease in demand for our products, significant price reductions, or if there were a higher incidence of
inventory obsolescence because of changing technology and customer requirements, we could be required to increase our inventory allowances and our gross
profit could be adversely affected.

Penalty Accruals

Some of our customer agreements, primarily in our project-related businesses, contain late shipment penalty clauses whereby we are contractually
obligated to pay consideration to our customers if we do not meet specified shipment dates. The accrual for estimated penalties is shown as a reduction of revenue
and is based on several factors including limited historical customer settlement experience and management’s assessment of specific shipment delay information.
As of October 2, 2011 and December 31, 2010, we had accrued $9.2 million and $7.9 million, respectively, related to these potential late shipment penalties. As
we conclude performance under these agreements, the actual amount of consideration paid to our customers may vary significantly from the amounts we
currently have accrued.

Acquisition Accounting

In connection with our acquisitions, we assess and formulate a plan related to the future integration of the acquired entity. This process begins during the
due diligence process and is generally concluded within twelve months of the acquisition. Our methodology for determining the fair values relating to
acquisitions is determined through established valuation techniques for industrial manufacturing companies and we typically utilize third party valuation firms to
assist in the valuation of certain tangible and intangible assets.

Legal Contingencies

We are currently involved in various legal claims and legal proceedings, some of which may involve substantial dollar amounts. Periodically, we review the
status of each significant matter and assess our potential financial exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is considered probable and the
amount can be estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimated loss. Significant judgment is required in both the determination of probability and the
determination as to whether an exposure can be reasonably estimated. Because of uncertainties related to these matters, accruals are based on the best information
available at the time. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to our pending claims and litigation and may revise
our estimates. Such revisions in the estimates of the potential liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
position. For more information related to our outstanding legal proceedings, see “Contingencies and Commitments” in Note 10 of the accompanying unaudited
consolidated financial statements as well as “Legal Proceedings” in Part II, Item 1 hereof.
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Impairment Analysis

As required by ASC Topic 350.1-3, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets,” we perform an annual assessment as to whether there was an indication that
goodwill and certain intangible assets are impaired. We also perform impairment analyses whenever events and circumstances indicate that goodwill or certain
intangibles may be impaired. In assessing the fair value of goodwill, we use our best estimates of future cash flows of operating activities and capital expenditures
of the reporting unit, the estimated terminal value for each reporting unit and a discount rate based on the weighted average cost of capital.

If our estimates or related projections change in the future due to changes in industry and market conditions, we may be required to record additional
impairment charges. The goodwill recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as of October 2, 2011 increased $14.0 million to $77.2 million compared to $63.2
million as of December 31, 2010. This increase is primarily due to the acquisition of SF Valves. There were no indicators of impairment as of October 2, 2011.

Income Taxes

For 2011, we expect an effective income tax rate of approximately 29.0%. Our future effective tax rates could be adversely affected by earnings being
lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory rates and vice versa. Changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or liabilities, or
changes in tax laws or interpretations thereof may also adversely affect our future effective tax rate. In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination of
our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these
examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes.

The Company has a net foreign deferred tax liability and a domestic deferred income tax asset. With regard to deferred income tax assets, we maintained a
total valuation allowance of $9.2 million and $10.1 million at October 2, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, due to uncertainties related to our ability to
utilize certain of these assets, primarily consisting of certain foreign tax credits, state net operating losses and state tax credits carried forward. The valuation
allowance is based on estimates of taxable income in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate and the period over which our deferred tax assets will be
recoverable. If market conditions improve and future results of operations exceed our current expectations, our existing tax valuation allowances may be adjusted,
resulting in future tax benefits. Alternatively, if market conditions deteriorate or future results of operations are less than expected, future assessments may result
in a determination that some or all of the deferred tax assets are not realizable. Consequently, we may need to establish additional tax valuation allowances for all
or a portion of the gross deferred tax assets, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. The
Company has had a history of domestic taxable income, is able to avail itself of federal tax carryback provisions, has future taxable temporary differences and
projects future domestic taxable income. We believe that after considering all of the available objective evidence, it is more likely than not that the results of
future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the remaining deferred tax assets.

Pension Benefits

We maintain two pension benefit plans, a qualified noncontributory defined benefit plan and a nonqualified, noncontributory defined benefit supplemental
plan that provides benefits to certain highly compensated officers and employees. To date, the supplemental plan remains an unfunded plan. These plans include
significant pension benefit obligations which are calculated based on actuarial valuations. Key assumptions are made in determining these obligations and related
expenses, including expected rates of return on plan assets and discount rates. Benefits are based primarily on years of service and employees’ compensation. As
of July 1, 2006, in connection with a revision to our retirement plan, we froze the pension benefits of our qualified noncontributory plan participants. Under the
revised plan, such participants generally do not accrue any additional benefits under the defined benefit plan after July 1, 2006 and instead receive enhanced
benefits associated with our defined contribution 401(k) plan in which substantially all of our U.S. employees are eligible to participate.

During the three and nine months ended October 2, 2011, we made cash contributions of $0.4 million and $2.5 million, respectively, to our qualified
defined benefit pension plan. For the remainder of 2011, we expect to make voluntary cash contributions of approximately $0.4 million to our qualified defined
benefit pension plan, although global capital market and interest rate fluctuations may impact future funding requirements.
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Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended October 2, 2011 Compared to the Three Months Ended October 3, 2010.

The following tables set forth the results of operations, percentage of net revenue and the period-to-period percentage change in certain financial data for
the three months ended October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010:
 
   Three Months Ended  
   October 2, 2011   October 3, 2010   % Change  
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Net revenues   $209,961    100.0%  $177,577    100.0%   18.2% 
Cost of revenues    154,774    73.7%   126,096    71.0%   22.7% 

    
 

    
 

  

Gross profit    55,187    26.3%   51,481    29.0%   7.2% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses    39,448    18.8%   35,648    20.1%   10.7% 
Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy (recoveries) charges    (201)   (0.1)%   2,343    1.3%   (108.6)% 

    
 

    
 

  

Operating income    15,940    7.6%   13,490    7.6%   18.2% 
Other expense (income):       

Interest expense, net    887    0.4%   734    0.4%   20.8% 
Other expense (income), net    354    0.2%   (853)   (0.5)%   (141.5)% 

    
 

    
 

  

Total other expense (income)    1,241    0.6%   (119)   (0.1)%   (1,142.9)% 
    

 
    

 
  

Income before income taxes    14,699    7.0%   13,609    7.7%   8.0% 
Provision for income taxes    3,752    1.8%   3,210    1.8%   16.9% 

    
 

    
 

  

Net income   $ 10,947    5.2%  $ 10,399    5.9%   5.3% 
    

 

    

 

  

Net Revenues

Net revenues for the three months ended October 2, 2011 increased by $32.4 million, or 18%, to $210.0 million from $177.6 million for the three months
ended October 3, 2010. The increase in net revenues for the three months ended October 2, 2011 was attributable to the following:
 
   Three Months Ended                  

   October 2, 2011   October 3, 2010   
Total

Change    Acquisitions   Operations   
Foreign

Exchange 
Segment   (In thousands)  
Energy   $ 103,300    $ 80,613    $22,687    $ 3,046    $ 17,051    $ 2,590  
Aerospace    32,681     28,316     4,365     0     3,929     436  
Flow Technologies    73,980     68,648     5,332     0     4,216     1,116  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 209,961    $ 177,577    $32,384    $ 3,046    $ 25,196    $ 4,142  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The Energy segment accounted for 49% of net revenues for the three months ended October 2, 2011 compared to 45% for the three months ended
October 3, 2010. The Aerospace segment accounted for 16% of net revenues for the three months ended October 2, 2011 compared to 16% for the three months
ended October 3, 2010. The Flow Technologies segment accounted for 35% of net revenues for the three months ended October 2, 2011 compared to 39% for the
three months ended October 3, 2010.

Energy segment revenues increased by $22.7 million, or 28%, for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 compared to the quarter ended October 3, 2010. The
increase was driven by $17.1 million of organic growth in all areas led by growth in our short-cycle North American businesses. The first quarter 2011 acquisition
of SF Valves added an additional $3.0 million in revenue and favorable foreign currency fluctuations added $2.6 million. Orders for this segment decreased $4.9
million to $93.6 million for the three months ended October 2, 2011, compared to $98.5 million for the three months ended October 3, 2010, due to fewer large
international projects, partially offset by continued increases in North American short-cycle businesses and the favorable impact of the SF Valves acquisition.
Backlog has increased by $49.0 million to $202.0 million as of October 2, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010.

Aerospace segment revenues increased by $4.4 million, or 15%, for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 compared to the quarter ended October 3, 2010. The
increase was primarily driven by organic growth of $3.9 million due to higher volume shipments across most areas with the exception of military aftermarket.
Favorable foreign currency fluctuations added an additional $0.4 million. Orders for this segment increased $31.5 million to $62.8 million for the three months
ended October 2, 2011 compared to $31.3 million for the three months ended October 3, 2010. This order increase was largely due to a significant multi-year
military landing gear order. Backlog increased by $7.6 million to $160.4 million as of October 2, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010. We believe that the
commercial aerospace markets will see year over year improvement during 2011, however, we continue to see softness in overall military spending, especially in
the aftermarket segment due to budget constraints and the winding down of military activities in Iraq and Afghanistan.

Flow Technologies segment revenues increased by $5.3 million, or 8%, for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 compared to the quarter ended October 3,
2010. The revenue increase was due to organic growth of $4.2 million and an increase of $1.1 million due to
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favorable foreign currency fluctuations. With the exception of Light-emitting diode equipment (“LED equipment”) revenues, the organic revenue across most
markets increased as compared to the three months ended October 3, 2010. Orders for this segment decreased $6.6 million to $70.8 million for the three months
ended October 2, 2011 compared to $77.4 million for the three months ended October 3, 2010 primarily due to a reduction of LED equipment market orders.
Backlog has decreased by $8.1 million to $77.8 million as of October 2, 2011 compared to the same period in 2010, driven by lower LED equipment and
maritime backlog, partially offset by increases in other Flow Technology markets.

Gross Profit

Consolidated gross profit increased $3.7 million, or 7%, to $55.2 million for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 compared to $51.5 million for the quarter
ended October 3, 2010. Consolidated gross margin decreased 270 basis points to 26.3% for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 from 29.0% for the quarter ended
October 3, 2010.

Gross profit for the Energy segment increased $2.5 million, or 13%, for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 compared to the quarter ended October 3, 2010.
The gross profit increase was due to organic increases of $2.5 million primarily from short-cycle North American businesses and a $0.5 million positive impact
from foreign currency fluctuations, partially offset by a $0.5 million decrease from the SF Valves acquisition. Gross margins declined 290 basis points from
24.3% for the quarter ended October 3, 2010 to 21.4% for the quarter ended October 2, 2011. The decline was primarily driven by the dilutive impact of the SF
Valves acquisition and unfavorable pricing in large international projects, partially offset by higher volume and favorable mix and short-cycle pricing.

Gross profit for the Aerospace segment decreased $0.3 million, or 4%, for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 compared to the quarter ended October 3,
2010. Gross margins declined by 570 basis points from 34.4% for the quarter ended October 3, 2010 to 28.7% for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 primarily
due to the ongoing integration of the August 2010 acquisition of Castle Precision Industries (“Castle”), unfavorable product mix and increased costs including
those associated with new programs.

Gross profit for the Flow Technologies segment increased $1.6 million, or 7%, for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 compared to the quarter ended
October 3, 2010. Organic growth in most markets, partially offset by declines in LED equipment revenue, resulted in a $1.2 million increase in gross profit, while
favorable foreign currency fluctuations added $0.4 million. Gross margins declined 30 basis points from 32.3% for the quarter ended October 3, 2010 to 32.0%
for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 primarily due to unfavorable mix, mostly offset by favorable volume and productivity improvements.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $3.8 million, or 11%, to $39.4 million for the quarter ended October 2, 2011 compared to $35.6
million for the three months ended October 3, 2010. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased 130 basis points to 18.8%
for the three months ended October 2, 2011 compared to 20.1% for the three months ended October 3, 2010.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Energy segment increased 38%, or $4.0 million, compared to the third quarter 2010. Organic increases
inclusive of higher selling resources and increased commissions accounted for $2.5 million of the total increase. In addition, the SF Valves acquisition in the first
quarter of 2011 added $1.2 million in expenses and foreign currency fluctuations added $0.4 million.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Aerospace segment increased 8%, or $0.5 million, compared to the third quarter 2010 primarily due to
expenses to support future programs. Foreign currency fluctuations and organic increases contributed $0.2 million and $0.3 million in expenses, respectively.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Flow Technologies segment increased 4%, or $0.5 million, compared to the third quarter 2010
primarily due to investments in power market growth initiatives offset by productivity. Organic increases of $0.2 million and foreign currency fluctuations of $0.3
million accounted for the increase.

Corporate selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 27%, or $1.3 million, in the third quarter of 2011 from the same period in 2010. The
decrease was primarily due to the $1.6 million payment of a settlement for a long-standing litigation matter, partially offset by higher incentive costs.

Leslie Asbestos and Bankruptcy Related Charges, Net

Asbestos and bankruptcy related charges are primarily associated with our Leslie subsidiary in the Flow Technologies segment. Net asbestos and
bankruptcy related costs decreased $2.5 million to a net recovery of $0.2 million for the three months ended October 2, 2011 compared to charges of $2.3 million
for the three months ended October 3, 2010. The $0.2 million recovery of bankruptcy related costs for the three month period ended October 2, 2011 was a result
of lower actual costs incurred as of October 2, 2011 compared to amounts previously estimated. For more information related to our Leslie absbestos and
bankruptcy related charges, see “Legal Proceedings” in Part II, Item 1 hereof.
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Operating Income

The change in operating income for the three months ended October 2, 2011 compared to the three months ended October 3, 2010 was as follows:
 
   Three Months Ended              

   October 2, 2011  October 3, 2010  
Total

Change   Acquisitions  Operations  
Foreign

Exchange 
Segment   (In thousands)  
Energy   $ 7,441   $ 8,968   $(1,527)  $ (1,696)  $ 32   $ 137  
Aerospace    1,846    2,726    (880)   0    (752)   (128) 
Flow Technologies    10,008    6,966    3,042    0    2,918    124  
Corporate    (3,355)   (5,170)   1,815    0    1,822    (7) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 15,940   $ 13,490   $ 2,450   $ (1,696)  $ 4,020   $ 126  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Operating income increased 18%, or $2.5 million, for the three months ended October 2, 2011 compared to the three months ended October 3, 2010, on an
18% increase in revenues.

Operating income for the Energy segment decreased $1.5 million, or 17%, for the third quarter 2011, as operating margin decreased 390 basis points to
7.2% on an organic revenue increase of 28%, compared to the third quarter 2010. These decreases were primarily driven by the dilutive impact of the SF Valves
acquisition and continued unfavorable pricing in large international projects, partially offset by favorable mix and expenses.

Operating income for the Aerospace segment decreased $0.9 million, or 32%, for the third quarter of 2011 compared to the third quarter of 2010. The
decrease in operating income was primarily due to the ongoing integration of the Castle acquisition and increased cost to support new programs, partially offset
by favorable volume.

Operating income for the Flow Technologies segment increased $3.0 million, or 44%, for the third quarter of 2011 compared to the third quarter of 2010.
The most significant factors contributing to this increase were the $2.5 million decrease in Leslie bankruptcy related charges, additional income from organic
revenue increases and favorable foreign exchange fluctuations.

Corporate operating expenses decreased $1.8 million for the third quarter 2011 compared to the third quarter 2010, primarily due to the payment of a
settlement of a long-standing litigation matter.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, increased $0.2 million for the three months ended October 2, 2011 from the three months ended October 3, 2010. This increase in
interest expense was primarily due to higher periodic interest charges due to higher debt borrowings.

Other Expense, Net

The Company reported other expense of $0.4 million for the three months ended October 2, 2011 compared to other income of $0.9 for the three months
ended October 3, 2010. The increase in expense was largely the result of the remeasurement of foreign currency balances.

Provision for Taxes

The effective income tax rate was 25.5% and 23.6% for the third quarters of 2011 and 2010, respectively. The increase in the income tax rate for the third
quarter of 2011 compared to the third quarter of 2010 was primarily due to a higher proportion of U.S. domestic income versus foreign income taxed at lower
income tax rates, partially offset by certain discrete items including a change in the UK tax rate and foreign credit utilization.

Net Income

Net income increased $0.5 million to $10.9 million in the third quarter 2011 on 18% higher revenues, compared to the same quarter in 2010. The increase
in net income was primarily the result of a decrease in Leslie bankruptcy-related charges and a corporate litigation settlement, partially offset by lower segment
operating income during the third quarter of 2011.
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Results of Operations for the Nine Months Ended October 2, 2011 Compared to the Nine Months Ended October 3, 2010.

The following tables set forth the results of operations, percentage of net revenue and the period-to-period percentage change in certain financial data for
the nine months ended October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010:
 
   Nine Months Ended  
   October 2, 2011   October 3, 2010   % Change 
   (Dollars in thousands)  
Net revenues   $605,239     100.0%  $491,851    100.0%   23.1% 
Cost of revenues    439,218     72.6%   348,109    70.8%   26.2% 

    
 

     
 

  

Gross profit    166,021     27.4%   143,742    29.2%   15.5% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses    124,083     20.5%   109,024    22.2%   13.8% 
Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy charges    676     0.1%   30,603    6.2%   (97.8)% 

    
 

     
 

  

Operating income    41,262     6.8%   4,115    0.8%   902.7% 
Other expense (income):        

Interest expense, net    2,892     0.5%   1,874    0.4%   54.3% 
Other expense (income), net    1,830     0.3%   (646)   (0.1)%   (383.3)% 

    
 

     
 

  

Total other expense    4,722     0.8%   1,228    0.2%   284.5% 
    

 
     

 
  

Income before income taxes    36,540     6.0%   2,887    0.6%   1,165.7% 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes    10,191     1.7%   (2,005)   (0.4)%   (608.3)% 

    
 

     
 

  

Net income   $ 26,349     4.4%  $ 4,892    1.0%   438.6% 
    

 

     

 

  

Net Revenues

Net revenues for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 increased by $113.3 million, or 23%, to $605.2 million from $491.9 million for the nine months
ended October 3, 2010. The increase in net revenues for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 was attributable to the following:
 
   Nine Months Ended                  

   October 2, 2011   October 3, 2010   
Total

Change    Acquisitions   Operations   
Foreign

Exchange 
Segment   (In thousands)  
Energy   $ 284,464    $ 215,641    $ 68,823    $ 9,392    $ 51,624    $ 7,807  
Aerospace    100,820     83,401     17,419     8,571     6,953     1,895  
Flow Technologies    219,955     192,809     27,146     1,739     20,602     4,805  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 605,239    $ 491,851    $113,388    $ 19,702    $ 79,179    $14,507  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The Energy segment accounted for 47% of net revenues for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to 44% for the nine months ended October 3,
2010. The Aerospace segment accounted for 17% of net revenues for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to 17% for the nine months ended
October 3, 2010. The Flow Technologies segment accounted for 36% of net revenues for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to 39% for the nine
months ended October 3, 2010.

Energy segment revenues increased by $68.8 million, or 32%, for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to the nine months ended October 3,
2010. The increase was primarily driven by $51.6 million of organic growth across the segment, particularly from the short-cycle North American businesses.
This increase is also due to $9.4 million in revenue from the first quarter 2011 acquisition of SF Valves and $7.8 million of favorable foreign currency
fluctuations. Orders for this segment increased $66.5 million to $310.6 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to $244.1 million for the
nine months ended October 3, 2010 due to strength in all areas, including large international projects, which have rebounded from the low order intake recorded
during 2010.

Aerospace segment revenues increased by $17.4 million, or 21%, for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to the nine months ended
October 3, 2010. $8.6 million of the increase was driven by acquisitions, primarily the August 2010 acquisition of Castle. Additional increases were due to
organic growth of $7.0 million across most areas with the exception of military aftermarket and favorable foreign currency fluctuations of $1.9 million. Orders for
this segment increased $36.0 million to $129.1 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to $93.1 million for the nine months ended
October 3, 2010. This order increase was primarily due to the positive impact of acquisitions and a large multi-year military landing gear order placed in the third
quarter of 2011.
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Flow Technologies segment revenues increased by $27.1 million, or 14%, for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to the nine months ended
October 3, 2010. The revenue increase was due to organic growth across most businesses of $20.6 million, including maritime and process and industrial markets.
An additional increase of $4.8 million was due to favorable foreign currency fluctuations. Mazda Ltd. (“Mazda”), which we acquired in the second quarter of
2010 added $1.7 million in revenues. Orders for this segment increased $11.8 million to $222.6 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to
$210.8 million for the nine months ended October 3, 2010, with improvement in most markets excluding the LED equipment market.

Gross Profit

Consolidated gross profit increased $22.3 million to $166.0 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to $143.7 million for the nine
months ended October 3, 2010. Consolidated gross margin decreased 180 basis points to 27.4% for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to 29.2%
for the nine months ended October 3, 2010.

Gross profit for the Energy segment increased $10.9 million, or 21%, for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to the nine months ended
October 3, 2010. The gross profit increase was primarily due to $9.4 million of organic revenue increases and $1.5 million in higher foreign exchange rates
compared to the U.S. dollar. Gross margins declined 200 basis points from 23.9% for the nine months ended October 3, 2010 to 21.9% for the nine months ended
October 2, 2011. This decline was primarily driven by pricing pressures, especially in large international projects, partially offset by favorable volume and the
associated leverage, especially in our North American businesses.

Gross profit for the Aerospace segment increased $2.2 million, or 7%, for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to the nine months ended
October 3, 2010. This gross profit increase was primarily due to $1.8 million from the August 2010 acquisition of Castle and $0.5 million due to favorable foreign
currency fluctuations, partially offset by organic decreases of $0.1 million. Gross margins declined by 430 basis points from 37.3% for the nine months ended
October 3, 2010 to 33.0% for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 primarily due to the dilution from the Castle acquisition, unfavorable product mix and
increased cost including those associated with new programs, partially offset by the increased volume and associated leverage.

Gross profit for the Flow Technologies segment increased $9.3 million, or 15%, for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to the nine months
ended October 3, 2010. Organic growth in most markets resulted in a $7.0 million increase in gross profit, while our recently acquired Mazda business added $0.7
million and favorable foreign currency fluctuations added another $1.6 million. Gross margins improved 30 basis points from 31.7% for the nine months ended
October 3, 2010 to 32.0% for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 primarily due to increased volume and the associated leverage, partially offset by
unfavorable product mix.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses increased $15.1 million, or 14%, to $124.1 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011
compared to $109.0 million for the nine months ended October 3, 2010. Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues
decreased 170 basis points to 20.5% for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to 22.2% for the nine months ended October 3, 2010.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Energy segment increased 29%, or $10.1 million, compared to the first nine months of 2010. Organic
increases, inclusive of higher commissions, increased selling resources and higher acquisition-related expenses accounted for $5.8 million of the total increase. In
addition, the SF Valves acquisition in the first quarter of 2011 added $2.8 million in expenses and foreign currency fluctuations added $1.5 million.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Aerospace segment increased 15%, or $3.0 million, for the first nine months of 2011 compared to the
first nine months of 2010. This increase was due to acquisitions that added $2.0 million in expenses, primarily from the Castle acquisition, organic increases of
$0.5 million and foreign currency fluctuations that added $0.5 million in expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Flow Technologies segment increased 5%, or $1.9 million, for the first nine months of 2011 compared
to the first nine months of 2010 primarily due to a $0.7 million increase attributable to the Mazda acquisition and a $0.9 million increase due to foreign currency
fluctuations.

Corporate selling, general and administrative expenses increased 1%, or $0.1 million, for the first nine months of 2011 compared to the same period in
2010. The increase was primarily due to higher incentive costs and share based compensation, partially offset by a 2011 $1.6 million payment of a settlement of a
long-standing litigation matter.

Leslie Asbestos and Bankruptcy Related Charges, Net

Asbestos and bankruptcy related charges are primarily associated with our Leslie subsidiary in the Flow Technologies segment. Net asbestos and
bankruptcy related costs decreased $29.9 million to $0.7 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011
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compared to $30.6 million for the nine months ended October 3, 2010. This decrease was due to the bankruptcy filing of our Leslie subsidiary and its emergence
from bankruptcy during the nine months ended October 3, 2010. For more information related to our Leslie absbestos and bankruptcy related charges, see “Legal
Proceedings” in Part II, Item 1 hereof.

Operating Income

The change in operating income for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to the nine months ended October 3, 2010 was as follows:
 
   Nine Months Ended              

   October 2, 2011  October 3, 2010  
Total

Change   Acquisitions  Operations  
Foreign

Exchange 
Segment   (In thousands)  
Energy   $ 18,208   $ 17,417   $ 791   $ (2,879)  $ 3,629   $ 41  
Aerospace    9,593    10,400    (807)   (200)   (576)   (31) 
Flow Technologies    28,416    (7,580)   35,996    (72)   35,361    707  
Corporate    (14,955)   (16,122)   1,167    0    1,178    (11) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total   $ 41,262   $ 4,115   $37,147   $ (3,151)  $ 39,592   $ 706  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Operating income increased $37.2 million, or 903%, to $41.3 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 from $4.1 million for the nine months
ended October 3, 2010.

Operating income for the Energy segment increased $0.8 million, or 5%, for the first nine months of 2011, compared to the same period in 2010. The
increase in operating income was primarily due to the significant volume increase and the associated leverage in our North American businesses, offset by the
impact of pricing pressures, especially in large international projects, and the costs associated with the SF Valves acquisition.

Operating income for the Aerospace segment decreased $0.8 million, or 8%, for the first nine months of 2011 compared to the same period in 2010. The
decrease in operating income was primarily due to the ongoing costs associated with the integration of Castle and other increased costs, including those associated
with new programs, partially offset by favorable volume.

Operating income for the Flow Technologies segment increased $36.0 million, or 475%, for the first nine months of 2011 compared to the same period in
2010. The most significant factor contributing to this increase was a $28.6 million decrease in Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy related charges, as well as $5.5
million of additional income from organic revenue increases at most businesses during the first nine months of 2011.

Corporate operating expenses decreased $1.2 million, or 8%, for the first nine months of 2011 compared to the same period in 2010, largely due to a 2011
payment of a litigation settlement and lower Leslie bankruptcy related charges.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, increased $1.0 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 from the nine months ended October 3, 2010. This increase in
interest expense was primarily due to higher interest charges from higher borrowings associated with our revolving credit facility and other borrowings.

Other Expense, Net

The Company reported other expense of $1.8 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to other income of $0.6 for the nine months
ended October 3, 2010. The $2.4 million difference was largely the result of the remeasurement of foreign currency balances.

Provision (Benefit) for Taxes

The effective income tax rate was 27.9% and (69.5%) for the nine month periods ended October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010, respectively. The 27.9% tax
rate in 2011 includes offsets by discrete items including a change in the UK tax rate and foreign tax credit utilization. The rate for the nine months ended
October 3, 2010 would have been 24.4% without the one-time cost recognized in association with the Leslie bankruptcy. The primary driver of the lower 2010
calculation was the higher mix of lower tax foreign income.
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Net Income

Net income increased $21.4 million to $26.3 million for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 compared to $4.9 million for the nine months ended
October 3, 2010. The increase in net income was primarily the result of the decrease in Leslie bankruptcy related charges.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity needs arise primarily from capital investment in machinery, equipment and the improvement of facilities, funding working capital
requirements to support business growth initiatives, acquisitions, dividend payments, and debt service costs. Excluding our first quarter results in 2010 and 2009,
as well as our second and third quarters of 2011, we have historically generated cash from operations. We believe we remain in a strong financial position, with
resources available for reinvestment in existing businesses, strategic acquisitions and managing our capital structure on a short and long-term basis.

The following table summarizes our cash flow activities for the nine months ended October 2, 2011 (In thousands):
 

Cash flow provided by (used in):   
Operating activities   $(70,678) 
Investing activities    (31,391) 
Financing activities    95,343  
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents    228  

    
 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents   $ (6,498) 
    

 

During the nine months ended October 2, 2011, we used $70.7 million in cash from operating activities compared to generating $17.1 million during the
nine months ended October 3, 2010. The higher amount of cash used in operating activities was primarily due to the payment of $76.6 million in April 2011 to
fund the Leslie Controls Asbestos Trust (as described in more detail in Part II, Item I, “Legal Proceedings” hereof), partially offset by higher net income
compared to the first nine months of 2010. The $31.4 million used in investing activities primarily consisted of fixed asset additions and cash used to acquire SF
Valves in the first quarter 2011. Financing activities provided $95.3 million, which included a net $98.2 million of proceeds from borrowings that were used to
partially fund the Leslie Controls Asbestos Trust in April 2011, the SF Valves acquisition in the first quarter of 2011 and for working capital purposes. Financing
activities also include $2.0 million used to pay dividends to shareholders and $2.0 million in debt issuance costs related to the new five year unsecured credit
agreement we entered into in May 2011.

As of October 2, 2011, total debt was $103.5 million compared to $1.5 million as of December 31, 2010. During February 2011, we borrowed $25.5
million from our existing credit facilities for the acquisition of SF Valves. In April 2011, we borrowed an additional $76.6 million to fund the Leslie Controls
Asbestos Trust. Total debt as a percentage of total shareholders’ equity was 27% as of October 2, 2011 compared to less than 1% as of December 31, 2010.

On May 2, 2011, we entered into a five year unsecured credit agreement (“2011 Credit Agreement”) that provides for a $300.0 million revolving line of
credit. The 2011 Credit Agreement includes a $150.0 million accordion feature for a maximum facility size of $450.0 million. The 2011 Credit Agreement also
allows for additional indebtedness not to exceed $80 million. We anticipate using the 2011 Credit Agreement to fund potential acquisitions, to support our organic
growth initiatives and working capital needs, and for general corporate purposes. As of October 2, 2011, we had borrowings of $85.0 million outstanding under
our credit facility and $50.9 million was allocated to support outstanding letters of credit.

Certain of our loan agreements contain covenants that require, among other items, maintenance of certain financial ratios and also limit our ability to: enter
into secured and unsecured borrowing arrangements; issue dividends to shareholders; acquire and dispose of businesses; invest in capital equipment; transfer
assets among domestic and international entities; participate in certain higher yielding long-term investment vehicles; and issue additional shares of our stock.
The two primary financial covenants are leverage ratio and interest coverage ratio. We were in compliance with all financial covenants related to our existing debt
obligations at October 2, 2011 and December 31, 2010 and we believe it is reasonably likely that we will continue to meet such covenants in the near future.

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 2.24:1 at October 2, 2011, compared to 1.62:1 at December 31, 2010. Cash and cash equivalents were
$39.3 million as of October 2, 2011, compared to $45.8 million as of December 31, 2010. A majority of this cash is located at our foreign subsidiaries and may
not be repatriated to the United States or other jurisdictions without significant tax implications.

On November 4, 2010, we filed with the SEC a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 under which we may issue up to $400 million of securities
including debt securities, common stock, preferred stock, warrants to purchase any such securities and units comprised of any such securities (the “Securities”).
The registration statement was declared effective by the SEC on December 17,
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2010. We may offer these Securities from time to time in amounts, at prices and on terms to be determined at the time of sale. We believe that with this
registration statement, we will have greater flexibility to take advantage of financing opportunities, acquisitions and other business opportunities when and if such
opportunities arise. Depending on market conditions, we may issue securities under this or future registration statements or in private offerings exempt from
registration requirements.

In 2011, excluding the April transaction to fund the Leslie Asbestos Trust, we expect to generate positive cash flow from operating activities sufficient to
support our capital expenditures and pay dividends approximating $2.6 million based on our current dividend practice of paying $0.15 per share annually. Based
on our expected cash flows from operations and contractually available borrowings under our credit facilities, we expect to have sufficient liquidity to fund
working capital needs and future growth. We continue to search for strategic acquisitions; a larger acquisition may require additional borrowings and/or the
issuance of our common stock.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements, other than operating leases, that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources that is material to
investors.
 
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Risk

As of October 2, 2011, our primary interest rate risk is related to borrowings under our revolving credit facility. The interest rate for our revolving credit
facility fluctuates with changes in short-term interest rates. We had $85.0 million borrowed under our revolving credit facility as of October 2, 2011. Based upon
expected levels of borrowings under our credit facility in 2011, an increase in variable interest rates of 100 basis points would have an effect on our annual results
of operations and cash flows of $0.2 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations, including foreign currency exchange rate risk and interest rate risk.
The Company currently uses derivative instruments to manage foreign currency risk on certain business transactions denominated in foreign currencies. To the
extent the underlying transactions hedged are completed, these forward contracts do not subject us to significant risk from exchange rate movements because they
generally offset gains and losses on the related foreign currency denominated transactions. These forward contracts do not qualify as hedging instruments for
accounting purposes and, therefore, do not qualify for fair value or cash flow hedge treatment. Any unrealized gains and losses on our contracts are recognized as
a component of other expense in our consolidated statements of operations.

As of October 2, 2011, we had thirteen forward contracts with amounts as follows (in thousands):
 

Currency   Number   Contract Amount
U.S. Dollar/GBP    5     3,376    U.S. Dollars
Euro/GBP    6     1,020    Euros
Brazilian Real/Euro    2     6,500    Brazilian Reals

This compares to eighteen forward contracts as of December 31, 2010. The fair value asset of the derivative forward contracts as of October 2, 2011 was
approximately $0.1 million and is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on our balance sheet. This compares to a fair value liability of
approximately $1.7 million that was included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2010.

We have determined that the majority of the inputs used to value our foreign currency forward contracts fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy,
found under ASC Topic 820.1. The credit valuation adjustments, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by ourselves and
our counterparties are Level 3 inputs. However, we have assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of our
foreign currency forward contracts and determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, we have
determined that our derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, respectively), has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by this report on
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Form 10-Q. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by
this report, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were designed and were effective to give reasonable assurance that information we disclose in
reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive and
financial officers, to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure and that such information is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

We have made no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended October 2, 2011 that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II OTHER INFORMATION.
 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

Asbestos and Bankruptcy Litigation

Background

On July 12, 2010 (the “Filing Date”), our subsidiary Leslie Controls, Inc. (“Leslie”) filed a voluntary petition (the “Bankruptcy Filing”) under Chapter 11
of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware and, simultaneously, filed a pre-negotiated plan of reorganization (as
amended, the “Reorganization Plan” or “Plan”) in an effort to permanently resolve Leslie’s exposure to asbestos-related product liability actions. On February 7,
2011, the U.S. Federal District Court for the District of Delaware (the “District Court”) affirmed the Bankruptcy Court’s earlier order confirming Leslie’s
Reorganization Plan, thus clearing the way for Leslie to emerge from bankruptcy. On April 28, 2011, pursuant to the terms of the Reorganization Plan, Leslie and
CIRCOR contributed $76.6 million in cash and a $1 million promissory note (the “Note”) to fund the Leslie Controls Asbestos Trust (the “Trust”), and Leslie
emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. Under the terms of the Plan, all current and future asbestos related claims against Leslie, as well as all current
and future derivative claims against CIRCOR, will now be permanently channeled to the Trust, and the only remaining financial obligation of Leslie and
CIRCOR is payment of the Note. On September 30, 2011, the District Court entered an order for the final decree closing the Chapter 11 case. For a more detailed
historical perspective on Leslie’s asbestos related litigation and associated pre-bankruptcy liability accounting, see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2010.

Accounting—Indemnity and Defense Cost Liabilities and Assets

During 2010, as a result of Leslie’s Bankruptcy Filing and Reorganization Plan, we accrued liabilities based on the terms of the Reorganization Plan. As of
December 31, 2010, we therefore recorded net Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy liabilities for resolution of pending and future claims of $79.8 million (all
classified as a current liability). As of October 2, 2011, the net liability decreased significantly with the funding of the Trust on April 28, 2011. A summary of
Leslie’s accrued liabilities, including contributions to the Trust under the Reorganization Plan for existing and future asbestos claims as well as incurred but
unpaid asbestos defense cost liabilities and the related insurance recoveries, is provided below.
 

In Thousands   October 2, 2011   December 31, 2010 
Existing claim indemnity liability   $ 0    $ 64  
Amounts payable to 524(g) trust    1,000     77,625  
Incurred defense cost liability    200     2,142  
Insurance recoveries receivable    0     (38) 

    
 

    
 

Net Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy liability   $ 1,200    $ 79,793  
    

 
    

 

2011 and 2010 Experience and Financial Statement Impact

The following table provides information regarding the pre-tax Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy related costs (recoveries) for the three and nine months
ended October 2, 2011. The $0.2 million recovery for the three month period ended October 2, 2011 is the result of lower actual defense related expenses partially
offset by additional bankruptcy related costs incurred for the three month period ended October 2, 2011 compared to amounts previously estimated.
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   Three Months Ended    Nine Months Ended  

In Thousands   
October 2,

2011   
October 3,

2010    
October 2,

2011   
October 3,

2010  
Indemnity costs accrued (cases filed)   $ 0   $ 0    $ 0   $ 2,496  
Adverse verdict appealed    0    0     0    (2,390) 
Defense (recoveries) cost incurred    (306)   16     (306)   7,182  
Insurance recoveries adjustment    0    0     0    (3,652) 
Insurance recoveries accrued    0    0     0    (2,626) 
Bankruptcy related costs    105    2,327     982    29,593  

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Net pre-tax Leslie asbestos and bankruptcy (recoveries) charges   $ (201)  $ 2,343    $ 676   $ 30,603  
    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

Other Matters

Smaller numbers of asbestos-related claims have also been filed against two of our other subsidiaries—Spence, the stock of which we acquired in 1984;
and Hoke, the stock of which we acquired in 1998. Due to the nature of the products supplied by these entities, the markets they serve and our historical
experience in resolving these claims, we do not believe that asbestos-related claims will have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of
operations or liquidity of Spence or Hoke, or the financial condition, consolidated results of operations or liquidity of the Company.

During the third quarter of 2011, we commenced arbitration proceedings against T.M.W. Corporation (“TMW”), the seller from which we acquired the
assets of Castle Precision Industries in August 2010, seeking to recover damages from TMW for breaches of certain representations and warranties made by
TMW in the Asset Purchase Agreement.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

We have not identified any material changes from the risk factors as previously disclosed in Item 1A. to Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2010.
 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

Working Capital Restrictions and Limitations upon Payment of Dividends

Certain of our loan agreements contain covenants that require, among other items, maintenance of certain financial ratios and also limit our ability to: enter
into secured and unsecured borrowing arrangements; issue dividends to shareholders; acquire and dispose of businesses; invest in capital equipment; transfer
assets among domestic and international entities; participate in certain higher yielding long-term investment vehicles; and issue additional shares of our stock.
The two primary financial covenants are leverage ratio and interest coverage ratio. We were in compliance with all covenants related to our existing debt
obligations at October 2, 2011 and December 31, 2010. We believe it is reasonably likely that we will continue to meet such covenants in the near future.
 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

None.
 
ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED).
 

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.
 

Exhibit
No.  Description and Location

    2  Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangement, Liquidation or Succession:

    2.1

 

Distribution Agreement by and between Watts Industries, Inc. and CIRCOR International, Inc., dated as of October 1, 1999, is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Amendment No. 2 to CIRCOR International, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 10-12B, File No. 000-
26961, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 6, 1999.

    3  Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws:

    3.1
 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of CIRCOR International, Inc., is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
CIRCOR International, Inc.’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-14962, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 29, 2009.

    3.2
 

Amended and Restated By-Laws of CIRCOR International, Inc., is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to CIRCOR International,
Inc.’s Form 10-K, File No. 001-14962, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 26, 2009.

    3.3
 

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of CIRCOR International, Inc., is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
3.3 to CIRCOR International, Inc.’s Form 10-K, File No. 001-14962, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 26, 2009.

    3.4

 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock of CIRCOR International, Inc.,
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to CIRCOR International, Inc.’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-14962, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 29, 2009.

    4  Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures:

    4.1

 

Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2009, between CIRCOR International, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company LLC, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to CIRCOR International, Inc.’s Form 8-A, File No. 001-14962, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2009.

    4.2

 

Specimen certificate representing the Common Stock of CIRCOR International, Inc., is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Amendment No. 1 to CIRCOR International, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 10-12B, File No. 000-26961, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on September 22, 1999.

  10  Material Contracts:

  10.1*† Executive Change of Control Agreement between CIRCOR, Inc. and Michael Dill, dated August 2, 2011.

  31.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  31.2*  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  32**
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101§
 

The following financial statements from Circor International, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 2, 2011, as
filed with the SEC on November 3, 2011, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language), as follows:

 (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of October 2, 2011 (unaudited) and December 31, 2010

 (ii) Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Three and Nine Months Ended October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010 (Unaudited)

 (iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended October 2, 2011 and October 3, 2010 (Unaudited)

 (iv) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
* Filed with this report.
** Furnished with this report.
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† Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
§ As provided in Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, this information is furnished and not filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as

amended, and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

 CIRCOR INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Date: November 3, 2011  /s/    A. William Higgins        
 A. William Higgins
 President and Chief Executive Officer
 Principal Executive Officer

Date: November 3, 2011  /s/    Frederic M. Burditt        
 Frederic M. Burditt
 Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
 Principal Financial Officer

Date: November 3, 2011  /s/    JOHN F. KOBER        

 John F. Kober
 Vice President, Corporate Controller
 Principal Accounting Officer
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Exhibit 10.1

Execution Copy

EXECUTIVE CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT

This EXECUTIVE CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made as of the 2nd day of August 2011, between CIRCOR, Inc., a
Massachusetts corporation (the “Company”), and Michael Ross Dill (“Executive”).

WHEREAS, the Company presently employs the Executive in which capacity the Executive serves as an officer of the Company and its Parent (as defined
below); and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Parent (the “Board”) recognizes the valuable services rendered to the Company, the Parent and their respective
affiliates by the Executive; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company, the Parent and their affiliates to encourage in advance the continued
loyalty of the Executive as well as the Executive’s continued attention to her assigned duties and objectivity in the event of a threatened or possible change in
control of the Parent;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Cause” shall mean: (a) conduct by Executive constituting a material act of willful misconduct in connection with the performance of her duties, including,
without limitation, misappropriation of funds or property of the Company or any of its affiliates other than the occasional, customary and de minimis use of
Company property for personal purposes; (b) criminal or civil conviction of Executive, a plea of polo contendere by Executive or conduct by Executive that
would reasonably be expected to result in material injury to the reputation of the Company if he were retained in her position with the Company, including,
without limitation, conviction of a felony involving moral turpitude; (c) continued, willful and deliberate non-performance by Executive of her duties hereunder
(other than by reason of Executive’s physical or mental illness, incapacity or disability) which has continued for more than thirty (30) days following written
notice of such non-performance from the Chief Executive Officer; or (d) a violation by Executive of the Company’s employment policies which has continued
following written notice “of such violation from the Chief Executive Officer.

“Change in Control” shall mean any of the following:

(a) Any “person,” as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Act”) (other than the
Parent, any of its subsidiaries, any member of the Home Family Group (as defined herein) or any trustee, fiduciary or other person or entity holding securities
udder any employee benefit plan or trust of the Parent or any of its subsidiaries), together with all “affiliates” and “associates” (as such terms are defined in Rule
12b-2 under the Act) of such person, shall become the “beneficial owner” (as
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such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Parent representing twenty-five percent (25%) or more of either
(A) the combined voting power of the Parent’s then outstanding securities having the right to voice in an election of the Parent’s Board (“Voting Securities”) or
(B) the then outstanding shares of Parent’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”) (other than as a result of an acquisition of securities
directly from the Parent); or

(b) Incumbent Directors (as defined below) cease for any reason, including, without limitation, as a result of a tender offer, proxy contest, merger or
similar transaction, to constitute at least a majority of the Board; or

(c) The stockholders of the Parent shall approve (A) any consolidation or merger of the Parent where the stockholders of the Parent, immediately
prior to the consolidation or merger, would not, immediately after the consolidation or merger, beneficially own (as such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 under the
Act), directly or indirectly, shares representing in the aggregate fifty percent (50%) or more of the voting shares of the Parent or other party issuing cash or
securities in the consolidation or merger (or of its ultimate parent corporation, if any), (B) any sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series
of transactions contemplated or arranged by any party as a single plan) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Parent or (C) any plan or proposal for the
liquidation or dissolution of the Parent.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “Change of Control” shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of the foregoing clause (a) solely as the result of
an acquisition of securities by the Parent which, by reducing the number of shares of Common Stock or other Voting Securities outstanding, increases the
proportionate number of shares beneficially owned by any person to twenty-five percent (25%) or more of either (A) the combined voting power of all of the then
outstanding Voting Securities or (B) Common Stock; provided, however, that if any person referred to in this sentence shall thereafter become the beneficial
owner of any additional shares of Voting Securities or Common Stock (other than pursuant to a stock split, stock dividend, or similar transaction or as a result of
an acquisition of securities directly from the Parent) and immediately thereafter beneficially owns twenty-five percent (25%) or more of either (A) the combined
voting power of all of the then outstanding Voting Securities or (B) Common Stock, then a “Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred for purposes of
the foregoing clause (a).

“Good Reason” shall mean that Executive has complied with the “Good Reason Process” (hereinafter defined) following the occurrence of any of the
following events: (a) a material diminution in the Executive’s responsibilities, authority or duties; (b) a material diminution in the Executive’s Base Salary except
for across-the-board salary reductions based on the Company’s financial performance similarly affecting all or substantially all senior management employees of
the Company; (c) a material change in the geographic location at which the Executive provides services to the Company, provided that such change shall be more
than thirty (30) miles from such location; or (d) the material breach of this Agreement by the Company. “Good Reason Process” shall mean that (i) Executive
reasonably determines in good faith that a “Good Reason” event has occurred; (ii) Executive notifies the Company in writing of the occurrence of the Good
Reason event within sixty (60) days of the occurrence of such event; (iii) Executive cooperates in good faith with the Company’s efforts, for a period not less than
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ninety (90) days following such notice, to modify Executive’s employment situation in a manner acceptable to Executive and Company; and (iv) notwithstanding
such efforts, one or more of the Good Reason events continues to exist and has not been modified in a manner acceptable to Executive. If the Company cures the
Good Reason event in a manner acceptable to Executive during the ninety (90) day period, Good Reason shall be deemed not to have occurred.

“Incumbent Directors” shall mean persons who, as of the Commencement Date, constitute the Board; provided that any person becoming a director of the
Parent subsequent to the Commencement Date shall be considered an Incumbent Director if such person’s election was approved by or such person was
nominated for election by a vote of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors; but provided further, that any such person whose initial assumption of office is
in connection with an actual or threatened election contest relating to the election of members of the Board or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or
consents by or on behalf of a person other than the Board, including by reason of agreement intended to avoid or settle any such actual or threatened contest or
solicitation, shall not be considered an Incumbent Director.

“Parent” shall mean CIRCOR International, Inc., a Delaware corporation as well as its successors by merger or otherwise.

2. Term. The term of this Agreement shall extend from the date hereof (the “Commencement Date”) until the first anniversary of the Commencement Date;
provided, however, that the term of this Agreement shall automatically be extended for one additional year on the first anniversary of the Commencement Date
and each anniversary thereafter unless, not less than 90 days prior to each such date, either party shall have given notice to the other that it does not wish to extend
this Agreement; provided, further, that if a Change in Control occurs during the original or extended term of this Agreement, the term of this Agreement shall
continue in effect for a period of not less than twelve (12) months beyond the month in which the Change in Control occurred.

3. Change in Control Payment. The provisions of this Paragraph 3 set forth certain terms of an agreement reached between Executive and the Company
regarding Executive’s rights and obligations upon the occurrence of a Change in Control of the Parent. These provisions are intended to assure and encourage in
advance Executive’s continued attention and dedication to her assigned duties and her objectivity during the pendency and after the occurrence of any such event.
These provisions shall terminate and be of no further force or effect beginning twelve (12) months after the occurrence of a Change of Control.

(a) Change in Control.

(i) If within twelve (12) months after the occurrence of the first event constituting a Change in Control, Executive’s employment is terminated
by the Company without Cause as defined in Section 1 or Executive terminates her employment for Good Reason as provided in Section 1, then the
Company shall pay Executive a lump sum in cash in an amount equal to two (2) times the sum of (A) Executive’s current Base Salary plus
(B) Executive’s highest annual incentive compensation under the Company’s Executive Bonus Incentive Plan in the three (3) immediately preceding
fiscal years,
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excluding any sign-on bonus, retention bonus or any other special bonus. Such lump sum cash payment shall be paid to Executive within thirty
(30) days following the date of termination of Executive’s employment; and

(ii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any applicable option agreement or stock-based award agreement, upon a Change in Control,
all stock options and other stock-based awards granted to Executive by the Parent shall immediately accelerate and become exercisable or non-
forfeitable as of the effective date of such Change in Control. In addition, all restricted stock units held by the Executive pursuant to the Management
Stock Purchase Plan shall become fully vested upon a Change of Control and the Executive shall be entitled to receive the shares of stock
represented by such restricted stock units. Executive shall also be entitled to any other rights and benefits with respect to stock-related awards, to the
extent and upon the terms, provided in the employee stock option or incentive plan or any agreement or other instrument attendant thereto pursuant
to which such options or awards were granted; and

(iii) The Company shall, for a period of two (2) years commencing on the date of termination of Executive’s employment, pay such health
insurance premiums as may be necessary to allow Executive, Executive’s spouse and dependents to continue to receive health insurance coverage
substantially similar to the coverage they received prior to the date of termination of Executive’s employment.

(b) Additional Limitation.

(i) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event that any compensation, payment or distribution by the Company to
or for the benefit of Executive, whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise (the
“Severance Payments”), would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), the following provisions shall apply:

(A) If the Severance Payments, reduced by the sum of (1) the Excise Tax and (2) the total of the Federal, state and local income and
employment taxes payable by Executive on the amount of the Severance Payments which are in excess of the Threshold Amount, are greater
than or equal to the Threshold Amount, Executive shall be entitled to the full benefits payable under this Agreement.

(B) If the Threshold Amount is less than (x) the Severance Payments, but greater than (y) the Severance Payments reduced by the sum
of (1) the Excise Tax and (2) the total of the Federal, state, and local income and employment taxes on the amount of the Severance
Payments which are in excess of the Threshold Amount, then the benefits payable under this Agreement shall be reduced (but not below
zero) to the extent necessary so that the maximum Severance Payments shall not exceed the Threshold Amount. To the extent that there is
more than one method of reducing the payments to bring them within the Threshold Amount, the Severance Payments shall be reduced in
the following
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order: (i) cash payments not subject to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”); (ii) cash payments
subject to Section 409A of the Code; (iii) equity-based payments; and (iv) non-cash form of benefits. To the extent any payment is to be
made over time (e.g., in installments), then the payments shall be reduced in reverse chronological order.

For the purposes of this Paragraph 3, “Threshold Amount” shall mean three times Executive’s “base amount” within the meaning of Section 280G(b)
(3) of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder less one dollar ($1.00); and “Excise Tax” shall mean the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of
the Code, and any interest or penalties incurred by Executive with respect to such excise tax.

(ii) The determination as to which of the alternative provisions of Paragraph 3(b)(i) shall apply to Executive shall be made by KPMG LLP or
any other nationally recognized accounting firm selected by the Company (the “Accounting Firm”), which shall provide detailed supporting
calculations both to the Company and Executive within 15 business days of the date of termination of Executive’s employment, if applicable, or at
such earlier time as is reasonably requested by the Company or Executive. For purposes of determining which of the alternative provisions of
Paragraph 3(b)(i) shall apply, Executive shall be deemed to pay federal income taxes at the highest marginal rate of federal income taxation
applicable to individuals for the calendar year in which the determination is to be made, and state and local income taxes at the highest marginal rates
of individual taxation in the state and locality of Executive’s residence on the date of termination of Executive’s employment, net of the maximum
reduction in federal income taxes which could be obtained from deduction of such state and local taxes. Any determination by the Accounting Firm
shall be binding upon the Company and Executive.

4. Unauthorized Disclosures. Executive acknowledges that in the course of her employment with the Company (and, if applicable, its predecessors), he has
been allowed to become, and will continue to be allowed to become, acquainted with the Company’s and the Parent’s business affairs, information, trade secrets,
and other matters which are of a proprietary or confidential nature, including but not limited to the Company’s, the Parent’s and their affiliates’ and predecessors’
operations, business opportunities, price and cost information, finance, customer information, business plans, various sales techniques, manuals, letters,
notebooks, procedures, reports, products, processes, services, and other confidential information and knowledge (collectively the “Confidential Information”)
concerning the Company’s, the Parent’s and their affiliates’ and predecessors’ business. The Company agrees to provide on an ongoing basis such Confidential
Information as the Company deems necessary or desirable to aid Executive in the performance of her duties. Executive understands and acknowledges that such
Confidential Information is confidential, and he agrees not to disclose such Confidential Information to anyone outside the Company or the Parent except to the
extent that (i) Executive deems such disclosure or use reasonably necessary or appropriate in connection with performing her duties on behalf of the Company
and the Parent, (ii) Executive is i required by order of a court of competent jurisdiction (by subpoena or similar process) to disclose or discuss any Confidential
Information, provided that in such case, Executive shall promptly inform the Company or the Parent, as appropriate, of such event, shall cooperate with the
Company or the
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Parent, as appropriate, in attempting to obtain a protective order or to otherwise restrict such disclosure, and shall only disclose Confidential Information to the
minimum extent necessary to comply with any such court order; (iii) such Confidential Information becomes generally known to and available for use in the
Company’s industry (the “Fluid-Control Industry”), other than as a result of any action or inaction by Executive; or (iv) such information has been rightfully
received by a member of the Fluid-Control Industry or has been published in a form generally available to the Fluid-Control Industry prior to the date Executive
proposes to disclose or use such information. Executive further agrees that he will not during employment and/or at any time thereafter use such Confidential
Information in competing, directly or indirectly, with the Company or the Parent. At such time as Executive shall cease to be employed by the Company, he will
immediately turn over to the Company or the Parent, as appropriate, all Confidential Information, including papers, documents, writings, electronically stored
information, other property, and all copies of them provided to or created by him during the course of her employment with the Company. The provisions of this
Paragraph 4 shall survive termination of this Agreement for any reason.

5. Covenant Not to Compete. In consideration of the benefits afforded the Executive under the terms provided in this Agreement and as a means to aid in
the performance and enforcement of the terms of the provisions of Paragraph 4, Executive agrees that

(a) during the term of Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months thereafter, regardless of the reason for
termination of employment, Executive will not, directly or indirectly, as an owner, director, principal, agent, officer, employee, partner, consultant, servant, or
otherwise, carry on, operate, manage, control, or become involved in any manner with any business, operation, corporation, partnership, association, agency, or
other person or entity which is engaged in a business that is competitive with any of the Company’s or the Parent’s products which are produced by the Company
or the Parent or any affiliate of either entity as of the date of Executive’s termination of employment with the Company, in any area or territory in which the
Company or the Parent or any affiliate of either entity conducts operations; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not prohibit Executive from owning up to
one percent (1%) of the outstanding stock of a publicly held company engaged in the Fluid-Control Industry; and

(b) during the term of Executive’s employment with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months thereafter, regardless of the reason for
termination of employment, Executive will not directly or indirectly solicit or induce any present or future employee of the Company or the Parent or any affiliate
of either entity to accept employment with Executive or with any business, operation, corporation, partnership, association; agency, or other person or entity with
which Executive may be associated, and Executive will not employ or cause any business, operation, corporation, partnership, association, agency, or other
person or entity with which Executive maybe associated to employ any present or future employee of the Company or the Parent without providing the Company
or the Parent, as appropriate, with ten (10) days’ prior written notice of such proposed employment.

Should Executive violate any of the provisions of this Paragraph, then in addition to all other rights and remedies available to the Company at law or in equity, the
duration of this covenant shall automatically be extended for the period of time from which Executive began such violation until he permanently ceases such
violation.
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6. Notice. For purposes of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in the Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to
have been duly given when delivered or mailed by United States certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to the Executive:

At his home address as shown
in the Company’s personnel records;

If to the Company:

CIRCOR, Inc.
25 Corporate Drive
Burlington, MA 01803
Attention: Board of Directors of CIRCOR International, Inc.

or to such other address as either party may have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith, except that notices of change of address shall be
effective only upon receipt.

7. Not an Employment Contract. This Agreement is intended only to provide those benefits for the Executive as set forth in Paragraph 3 in connection
with a Change of Control. As such, this Agreement is not intended to and does not in anyway constitute an employment agreement or other contract which would
cause the employee to be considered anything other than an employee at will or to in any way be entitled to any specific payments or benefits from the Company
in the event of a termination of employment not subject to Paragraph 3 of this Agreement.

8. Miscellaneous. No provisions of this Agreement may be modified, waived, or discharged unless such waiver, modification, or discharge is agreed to in
writing and signed by Executive and such officer of the Company as may be specifically designated by the Board. No waiver by either party hereto of or
compliance with, any condition or provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions
or conditions at the same or at any prior or subsequent time. No agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or implied, unless specifically referred
to herein, with respect to the subject matter hereof have been made by either party which are not set forth expressly in this Agreement. The validity, interpretation,
construction, and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (without regard to principles of conflicts
of laws).

9. Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other
provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect. The invalid portion of this Agreement, if any, shall be modified by any court having
jurisdiction to the extent necessary to render such portion enforceable.
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10. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together will
constitute one and the same instrument.

11. Arbitration; Other Disputes. In the event of any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement, the parties shall first
promptly try in good faith to settle such dispute or controversy by mediation under the applicable rules of the American Arbitration Association before resorting
to arbitration. In the event such dispute or controversy remains unresolved in whole or in part for a period of thirty (30) days after it arises, the parties will settle
any remaining dispute or controversy exclusively by arbitration in Boston, Massachusetts, in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association
then in effect. Judgment may be entered on the arbitrator’s award in any court having jurisdiction. Notwithstanding the above, the Company shall be entitled to
seek a restraining order or injunction in any court of competent jurisdiction to prevent any continuation of any violation of Paragraph 4 or 5 hereof.

12. Litigation and Regulatory Cooperation. During and after Executive’s employment, Executive shall reasonably cooperate with the Company and the
Parent in the defense or prosecution of any claims or actions now in existence or which may be brought in the future against or on behalf of the Company and/or
the Parent which relate to events or occurrences that transpired while Executive was employed by the Company; provided, however, that such cooperation shall
not materially and adversely affect Executive or expose Executive to an increased probability of civil or criminal litigation. Executive’s cooperation in connection
with such claims or actions shall include, but not be limited to, being available to meet with counsel to prepare for discovery or trial and to act as a witness on
behalf of the Company and/or the Parent at mutually convenient times. During and after Executive’s employment, Executive also shall cooperate fully with the
Company and the Parent in connection with any investigation or review of any federal, state or local regulatory authority as any such investigation or review
relates to events or occurrences that transpired while Executive was employed by the Company. The Company shall also provide Executive with compensation on
an hourly basis (to be derived from the sum of her Base Compensation and Average Incentive Compensation) for requested litigation and regulatory cooperation
that occurs after her termination of employment, and reimburse Executive for all costs and expenses incurred in connection with her performance under this
Paragraph 12, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

13. Gender Neutral. Wherever used herein, a pronoun in the masculine gender shall be considered as including the feminine gender unless the context
clearly indicates otherwise.

14. Section 409A.

(a) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if at the time of the Executive’s separation from service within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code, the Company determines that the Executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code,
then to the extent any payment or benefit that the Executive becomes entitled to under this Agreement on account of the Executive’s separation from service
would be considered deferred compensation subject to the 20 percent additional tax imposed pursuant to Section 409A(a) of the Code as a result of the
application of Section
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409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, such payment shall not be payable and such benefit shall not be provided until the date that is the earlier of (A) six months and one
day after the Executive’s separation from service, or (B) the Executive’s death.

(b) The parties intend that this Agreement will be administered in accordance with Section 409A of the Code. To the extent that any provision of this
Agreement is ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A of the Code, the provision shall be read in such a manner so that all payments hereunder comply
with Section 409A of the Code. The parties agree that this Agreement may be amended, as reasonably requested by either party, and as may be necessary to fully
comply with Section 409A of the Code and all related rules and regulations in order to preserve the payments and benefits provided hereunder without additional
cost to either party.

(c) The determination of whether and when a separation from service has occurred shall be made in accordance with the presumptions set forth in
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h).

(d) The Company makes no representation or warranty and shall have no liability to the Executive or any other person if any provisions of this
Agreement are determined to constitute deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code but do not satisfy an exemption from, or the conditions of,
such Section.

(e) All in-kind benefits provided and expenses eligible for reimbursement under this Agreement shall be provided by the Company or incurred by the
Executive during the time periods set forth in this Agreement. All reimbursements shall be paid as soon as administratively practicable, but in no event shall any
reimbursement be paid after the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred. The amount of in-kind benefits
provided or reimbursable expenses incurred in one taxable year shall not affect the in-kind benefits to be provided or the expenses eligible for reimbursement in
any other taxable year. Such right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement effective on the date and year first above written.
 

CIRCOR, INC.

By:  /s/ A. William Higgins
 A. William Higgins
 Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer

EXECUTIVE

/s/ Michael Ross Dill
Michael Ross Dill

 
[Signature Page to Executive Change of Control Agreement]



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, A. William Higgins, certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of CIRCOR International, Inc.;
 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: November 3, 2011  Signature: /s/    A. William Higgins        

  A. William Higgins
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Frederic M. Burditt, certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of CIRCOR International, Inc.;
 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: November 3, 2011  Signature: /s/    Frederic M. Burditt        

  Frederic M. Burditt
  Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
  Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned officers, who are the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of CIRCOR International, Inc. (the “Company”), each hereby
certifies to the best of his knowledge, that the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q to which this certification is attached (the “Report”), as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.
 

/s/    A. William Higgins          /s/    Frederic M. Burditt        
A. William Higgins   Frederic M. Burditt

President and Chief Executive Officer   Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Principal Executive Officer   Principal Financial Officer

November 3, 2011  November 3, 2011


